Review Article

Zoological Studies

Gonadotropin-releasing Hormones (GnRH) in Fishes: Evolutionary Data on Their Structure, Localization, Regulation, and Function

Maite Montero and Sylvie Dufour*

Laboratoire de Physiologie Générale et Comparée, Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, URA 90 CNRS, 7 rue Cuvier, 75005 Paris, France

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	149
INTRODUCTION	150
MOLECULAR DIVERSITY OF GONADOTROPIN-RELEASING HORMONES (GnRHs)	150
Molecular structure of GnRH peptides	150
Phylogenetic distribution of GnRH forms and coexistence of several forms	
Molecular evolution of GnRHs	151
Structure of GnRH precursors and genes	152
LOCALIZATION OF GnRH CELLS IN BRAIN	
Differential distribution	153
"Anterior" and "posterior" GnRH systems	153
Ontogenesis	153
DUAL ROLES OF GnRHs; HYPOPHYSIOTROPIC NEUROHORMONES AND BRAIN	
NEUROMEDIATORS	154
Pituitary and brain projections of GnRH anterior and posterior systems	154
Hypophysiotropic action on gonadotropin (GTH) secretion in teleosts	154
Hypophysiotropic action on growth hormone (GH) secretion in teleosts	155
DIFFERENTIAL REGULATION OF GnRHs	155
Effects of experimental sexual maturation	155
Effects of steroid treatments	155
CONCLUSIONS	156
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	156
REFERENCES	156
CHINESE ABSTRACT	160

ABSTRACT

Maite Montero and Sylvie Dufour (1996) Gonadotropin-releasing hormones (GnRH) in fishes: evolutionary data on their structure, localization, regulation, and function. *Zoological Studies* **35**(3): 149-160. Since the discovery of GnRH in mammals (mGnRH), a family of homologous decapeptides has been characterized in lower vertebrates. One form (cGnRH-II) is present in all classes of gnathostomes, and coexists with another form exhibiting species-specific molecular variations. The highest diversity has been observed in fishes, where cGnRH-II coexists with dfGnRH in chondrichthyes, with mGnRH in primitive osteichthyes (including some primitive teleosts, the eels), with sGnRH in most teleosts, and with cfGnRH in catfishes; in addition, a 3rd form (sbGnRH) coexists with cGnRH-II and sGnRH in recent teleosts, the perciforms. Immunocytochemistry using highly specific antibodies or in situ hybridization demonstrates a differential distribution of GnRH peptides in teleosts as in other vertebrates: cGnRH-II is located in neurons of the midbrain tegmentum while the other GnRH forms are located in neurons of the anterior brain (olfactory bulbs, telence-

*To whom all correspondence and reprint requests should be addressed.

phalon, and diencephalon). The coexistence of 2 GnRH systems raises the question of their respective physiological roles, particularly in regard to hypophysiotropic function. In teleosts, the adenohypophysis is directly innervated by hypophysiotropic neurons; GnRH from the anterior system (mGnRH, sGnRH, cfGnRH or sbGnRH) is the major molecular form innervating the pituitary. Also, depending on the species of teleost, cGnRH-II fibers contributing to the innervation of the pituitary may be absent, few or numerous, suggesting important differences between species in the hypophysiotropic role of cGnRH-II. Apart from their hypophysiotropic roles, GnRHs may also act as brain neuromediators in teleosts, as in all other vertebrates. Clues to the respective roles of the GnRH forms can also be obtained by comparing how they are regulated. The 2 GnRH forms showed opposite responses in eels subjected to experimental maturation or steroid treatments, with a large stimulation of mGnRH (as well as pituitary gonadotropin) levels, but a decrease in cGnRH-II levels. All these results suggest a major role for the anterior brain GnRH system in the hypophysiotropic control of gonadotropin.

Key words: Evolution, Neuropeptide, Teleost.

INTRODUCTION

In vertebrates, the production of gonadotropins by the pituitary is regulated by gonadotropinreleasing hormone (GnRH), a brain neuropeptide. The discovery of the coexistence of several molecular forms of GnRH in the same species of most vertebrates raises the question of their respective physiological roles.

MOLECULAR DIVERSITY OF GONADOTROPIN-RELEASING HORMONES (GnRHs)

The hypothalamic factor responsible for the control of luteinizing hormone (LH) secretion was

first isolated and characterized in mammals (in pig by Matsuo et al. 1971, and in sheep by Amoss et al. 1971). A decapeptide, with the same primary structure was also characterized in several other mammalian species such as rat, mouse, and human (Adelman et al. 1986, Seeburg et al. 1987). This decapeptide, mGnRH (mammalian GnRH) was considered unique until the discovery of molecular variants in non-mammalian vertebrates (King and Millar 1979), and especially in fishes (Sherwood et al. 1983).

Molecular structure of GnRH peptides

Nine molecular forms of GnRH have been characterized (Fig. 1). The mammalian form (mGnRH), discovered in mammals, has also been found in

mGnRH (mammal)	pGlu-His-Trp-Ser-Ty	r-Gly-Leu-Arg	Pro-Gly-NH2
cGnRH I (chicken)	pGlu-His-Trp-Ser-Ty	r-Gly-Leu-Gln	Pro-Gly-NH2
cfGnRH (catfish)	pGlu-His-Trp-Ser-Hi	s-Gly-Leu-Asn	Pro-Gly-NH2
sbGnRH (sea bream)	pGlu-His-Trp-Ser-Ty	r-Gly-Leu-Ser	Pro-Gly-NH2
sGnRH (salmon)	pGlu-His-Trp-Ser Ty	r-Gly-Trp-Leu	Pro-Gly-NH2
dfGnRH (dogfish)	pGlu-His-Trp-Ser-Hi	s-Gly-Trp-Leu	Pro-Gly-NH2
cGnRH-II (chicken)	pGlu-His-Trp-Ser Hi	s-Gly-Trp-Tyr-	Pro-Gly-NH2
lGnRH III (lamprey)	pGlu-His-Trp-Ser-Hi	s-Asp-Trp-Lys-1	Pro-Gly-NH2
lGnRH I (lamprey)	pGlu-His-Tyr-Ser-Le	u-Glu-Trp-Lys	Pro-Gly-NH2

Fig. 1. Primary structure of vertebrate GnRHs, identified with the species in which they were first discovered (for review see: King and Millar 1992, Sower et al. 1993, Powell et al. 1994).

other vertebrates such as amphibians and some fish species. Two GnRH forms have been discovered in the chicken hypothalamus: chicken I GnRH (cGnRH-I) (King and Millar 1982a, b) and chicken II GnRH (cGnRH-II) (Miyamoto et al. 1984). Both avian forms are also present in reptiles.

The highest molecular diversity is exhibited by fish species, in which 4 molecular forms have been discovered: salmon GnRH (sGnRH) in *Oncorhynchus keta* (Sherwood et al. 1983), catfish GnRH (cfGnRH) in *Clarias macrocephalus* (Ngamvongchon et al. 1992), dogfish GnRH (dfGnRH) in *Squalus acanthias* (Lovejoy et al. 1992b), and most recently sea bream GnRH (sbGnRH) in *Sparus aurata* (Powell et al. 1994). In agnatha, 2 forms have been characterized: lamprey I GnRH (IGnRH-I) and lamprey III GnRH (IGnRH-III) in *Petromyzon marinus* (Sherwood et al. 1986, Sower et al. 1993).

These nine GnRHs are decapeptides with conserved residues in positions 1, 2, 4, 9, and 10. The amino acid in the 8th position is the most variable. The evolutionary conservation of the Nand C- termini indicates an important functional role for these regions. Indeed, use of numerous synthetic GnRH variants indicated that both ends are involved in interaction with the receptor (for review see: Karten and Rivier 1986, Millar and King 1994, Millar et al. 1994).

Phylogenetic distribution of GnRH forms and coexistence of several forms

Since GnRH is present in very low amounts in the brain, its purification and direct characterization by peptide sequencing requires much starting material, such as several kilograms of brain tissue, for instance, in the first studies in mammals (Amoss et al. 1971, Matsuo et al. 1971) and recent work in fish (Powell et al. 1994). Indirect approaches, based on the chromatographic behavior and antigenic properties of GnRH forms, are therefore often used to identify which forms are present in a given species, for instance in Anguilla anguilla (King et al. 1990a). These studies have led to the conclusion that there are examples of species from all vertebrate classes with at least two GnRH forms. and also suggest that in addition to the nine forms presently known, other GnRH forms are likely to exist.

The GnRH peptide family is present in the most ancient vertebrates, the agnatha (which first appeared about 500 million years ago), with two forms, IGnRH-I and IGnRH-III, characterized in

lampreys (Sherwood et al. 1986, Millar and King 1994).

In all classes of gnathostomes, and in most species, cGnRH-II is present and coexists with another form exhibiting molecular variations which depend on the species. Among cartilaginous fishes, cGnRH-II alone has been found in the holocephalan (Hydrolagus colliei by Lovejoy et al. 1991), while in elasmobranchs, cGnRH-II and dfGnRH are present, together with other still uncharacterized forms (Lovejoy et al. 1992a, b, for review see: Millar and King 1994). Among bony fishes, cGnRH-II coexists with at least one other form: mGnRH, sGnRH, or cfGnRH (for review see: Sherwood and Loveiov 1989, King and Millar 1992, Millar and King 1994). Recently, Powell et al. (1994) discovered that three forms (cGnRH-II, sGnRH, and sbGnRH in Sparus aurata) are present in some teleost species (perciforms).

Amphibians possess both cGnRH-II and mGnRH, with a possible unidentified additional form (King et al. 1994). In reptiles and birds, both cGnRH-I and cGnRH-II coexist, with the possible exception of snakes in which those studied to date have only been found to possess cGnRH-I (for review see: Millar and King 1994).

The coexistence of at least two GnRH forms in a single species of non-mammalian vertebrates triggered the search for various GnRH forms in mammals, which, at that time, were presumed to possess only one form, mGnRH. As a result, cGnRH-II was found, in addition to mGnRH, in several metatherian mammals (marsupials) as well as in some eutherian mammals (insectivores, an order often considered primitive among mammals) (King et al. 1989 1990b, Dellovade et al. 1993, Millar and King 1994). This suggests that the disappearance of cGnRH-II, if it had ever occurred, would have been a recent event, subsequent to the separation of marsupials and eutherian mammals.

Molecular evolution of GnRHs

In gnathostomes, two GnRH molecular lineages are present, probably deriving from gene duplication: on the one hand is the cGnRH-II lineage, which exhibits a total molecular conservation among vertebrates; on the other hand is the variable lineage (dfGnRH, mGnRH, sGnRH, cfGnRH, sbGnRH, cGnRH-I).

In the variable GnRH lineage, mGnRH is the form most highly represented in different vertebrate classes: this form is present in mammals, amphi-

bians, and some groups of fishes. Mammalian GnRH has indeed been detected in the evolutionarily old fish groups, near the tetrapod origin: in the lungfish (Neoceratodus forsteri by Joss et al. 1994), in the reedfish (Calamoichthys calabaricus by Sherwood et al. 1991), in chondrosteans (Acipenser spp. by Sherwood et al. 1991, Leprêtre et al. 1993), in the alligator gar (Lepisosteus spatula by Sherwood et al. 1991), in the bowfin (Amia calva by Millar and King 1994) and in more primitive teleosts (Anguilla spp. by Le Belle et al. 1988, King et al. 1990a). This suggests that mGnRH is the ancestral form of this lineage, at least since the evolution of bony fishes, and that molecular variants such as sGnRH and cGnRH-I may have been derived from the mGnRH gene by a few mutations. The origin of the mGnRH lineage could have been even earlier, as mGnRH has been detected in a cartilaginous fish (Scyliorhinus canicula by D'Antonio et al. 1995).

The salmon GnRH form likely appeared during the evolution of teleosts (probably with clupeocephalids): indeed, sGnRH is present in euteleosts and in a clupeid, but not in elopomorphs. The origin of catfish GnRH is still unknown: it has been suggested that this form arose from mGnRH after mutation of two amino acids (King and Millar 1992), but the phylogenetic position of silurids in relation to other groups of teleosts suggests that cfGnRH likely arose from sGnRH. The discovery of a 3rd GnRH form in perciforms, sbGnRH, which coexists with sGnRH and cGnRH-II, suggests the occurrence of a new duplication (of cGnRH-II or sGnRH gene) in this most recent group of teleosts.

Structure of GnRH precursors and genes

The sequences of complementary DNA (cDNA) were initially determined for mGnRH prohormone in various mammalian species (Seeburg and Adelman 1984, Adelman et al. 1986, Mason et al. 1986). The precursor is comprised of 3 domains: the signal sequence, the GnRH peptide, the proteolytic processing site and the GnRH-associated peptide (GAP). In other tetrapods, the cDNAs coding for cGnRH-I and mGnRH precursors were respectively characterized in the chicken (Dunn et al. 1993) and in the clawed toad (Hayes et al. 1994).

In teleosts, the cDNA coding for the sGnRH precursor was determined in salmonids, *Salmo salar* (Klungland et al. 1992) and *Oncorhynchus masou* (Suzuki et al. 1992), and also in a cichlid fish, *Haplochromis burtoni* (Bond et al. 1991); the cDNA coding for the cfGnRH precursor was sequenced in

a silurid, Clarias gariepinus (Bogerd et al. 1994).

The comparison of GAP sequences shows a very low conservation between tetrapod GAPs and the GAP associated with cfGnRH, and no common amino acids with the GAP associated with sGnRH. There is some sequence identity between the GAP associated with sGnRH in cichlids and salmonids. These data indicate that GAP sequences are considerably less conserved across the phylogenetic spectrum compared to their GnRH partners. This suggests that the conservation of the biological role of GAP may be under fewer constraints than that of GnRH. Sherwood et al. (1993) suggested that full-length transcripts are required for effective processing of GnRH peptides. The evolutionary data confirm the hypothesis of a role of GAP in the structure and stability of the GnRH precursor rather than a function as a biologically active peptide (Andersen and Klungland 1993).

Recently, in addition to the sGnRH precursor. a 2nd cDNA corresponding to the cGnRH-II form was sequenced in a cichlid fish, Haplochromis burtoni (White et al. 1994). This precursor is comprised of the signal sequence, the cGnRH-II peptide, the processing site, and the GAP sequence in which the authors suspect the existence of a 2nd processing site leading to the formation of 2 GAPs. However, the determination of the cGnRH-Il precursor in another teleost, a silurid fish, Clarias gariepinus (Bogerd et al. 1994), did not confirm this hypothesis of the existence of 2 GAPs; the 2nd potential processing site not being present. These studies in teleosts established that the 2 coexisting GnRH forms (sGnRH/cfGnRH and cGnRH-II) were encoded by 2 different genes, and not by a unique gene. These data corroborate the hypothesis that these 2 molecular lineages originated by gene duplication.

The mGnRH gene has been characterized in some mammals (Seeburg and Adelman 1984, Adelman et al. 1986, Mason et al. 1986). In nonmammalian species, the sGnRH gene has been cloned in a salmonid, Salmo salar (Klungland et al. 1992), and cGnRH-I in the chicken (Dunn et al. 1993, for review see: Andersen and Klungland 1993). All genes contain 4 exons. The comparison of fish, bird, and mammal genes shows that even if the global structure of GnRH gene is relatively complex and old, it is well conserved: the sequence signal, the GnRH peptide and the GAP are always encoded by the same exons, only an increase in the intron length being observed during the evolution from fishes to mammals (for review see: Andersen and Klungland 1993). The

cGnRH-II gene has not yet been characterized in any species.

LOCALIZATION OF GnRH CELLS IN BRAIN

The coexistence of cGnRH-II with 1 or several of the other GnRH molecular forms appears to be a general, well-conserved feature among chondrichthyes, osteichthyes, and all groups of tetrapods. This raises the question of the respective neuronal distribution of these forms. Several immunocytochemical and radioimmunological studies, using specific antibodies for each form, have been carried out to address this question.

Differential distribution

Immunocytochemical studies of the comparative distribution of distinct GnRH forms, using specific antibodies, were performed in some species, including primitive eutherian mammals (Dellovade et al. 1993, Millar and King 1994), birds (Mikami et al. 1988, Millam et al. 1989), reptiles (Masucci et al. 1992, Tsai and Licht 1993), amphibians (D'Aniello et al. 1991, Conlon et al. 1993, Muske and Moore 1994), and bony fishes (for review see: Kah et al. 1993).

In fish, the immunocytochemical studies of the distribution of distinct GnRH forms were concerned with the distribution of mGnRH and cGnRH-II in a chondrostean, *Acipenser baeri* (Leprêtre et al. 1993), and in a primitive teleost, *Anguilla anguilla* (Montero et al. 1994), and the distribution of sGnRH and cGnRH-II in a salmonid teleost, *Oncorhynchus masou* (Amano et al. 1991). Radioimmunological studies have been used to define the distribution of sGnRH and cGnRH-II in a cyprinid, *Carassius auratus* (Yu et al. 1988), and in a salmonid, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Okuzawa et al. 1990), and the distribution of mGnRH and cGnRH-II in *Anguilla anguilla* (Dufour et al. 1993).

Recently, in situ hybridization was applied to brains of several teleosts: studies investigated the localization of sGnRH and cGnRH-II mRNAs in a cichlid fish, *Haplochromis burtoni* (White et al. 1994), that of cfGnRH and cGnRH-II mRNAs in a silurid fish, *Clarias gariepinus* (Bogerd et al. 1994), and that of sGnRH mRNA in 2 salmonids, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* and *Salmo salar* (Bailhache et al. 1994).

Most of the specific studies performed in various vertebrates demonstrated that the various GnRH forms coexisting in the same species are expressed in different neurons (for review see: Muske 1993). Some immunocytochemical studies showed a co-localization of the various GnRH forms in the same neurons (for example, the coexistence of cfGnRH and cGnRH-II in *Clarias gariepinus* by Schulz et al. 1993). However, such co-localizations are possibly due to cross reactions leading to artifacts of localization of immunoreactive structures, as demonstrated by various studies in urodele amphibians (Muske 1993), and by in situ hybridization in *Clarias gariepinus* (Bogerd et al. 1994).

"Anterior" and "posterior" GnRH systems

The cGnRH-II form seems to be strictly localized in cell bodies of the anterior mesencephalon or posterior diencephalon, representing the "posterior" GnRH system according to Muske (1993): in fishes (for review see: Kah et al. 1993, Montero et al. 1994), urodele amphibians (Muske and Moore 1994), birds (Mikami et al. 1988), and mammals (Dellovade et al. 1993). The projections of these cGnRH-II neurons are mainly localized in extrahypophysiotropic areas (particularly in the posterior brain and in the medulla), but may also innervate the hypophysiotropic area in some species (see below).

The other GnRH forms, corresponding to the lineage of GnRH variants in gnathostomes, have been detected in neurons from the olfactory bulbs, telencephalon and diencephalon, forming the "anterior" GnRH system (Muske 1993): this system corresponds to the septo-preoptico-infundibular system in mammals. The major part of GnRH projections to the pituitary (in teleosts) or to the median eminence (in tetrapods) comes from the neurons of this anterior system, but these neurons also send projections to various extrahypophysio-tropic areas.

Ontogenesis

Ontogenic data in mammals demonstrate that mGnRH neurons originate from olfactory placodes and migrate into the brain during embryogenesis (Schwanzel-Fukuda and Silverman 1980, Schwanzel-Fukuda and Pfaff 1991). Some data from other tetrapods (in the chicken by Murakami et al. 1991, in the axolotl by Northcutt and Muske 1994), and in fish (in the salmon by Chiba et al. 1994) suggest a similar origin (from olfactory placodes) for GnRH neurons of the anterior system.

Concerning the posterior system, Northcutt

and Muske (1994) recently demonstrated that the ablation of olfactory placodes of an amphibian embryo (the axolotl, *Ambystoma mexicanum*) prevented the appearance of mGnRH neurons, but not that of cGnRH-II neurons. These authors hypothesized that cGnRH-II neurons, which do not come from olfactory placodes, could have a periventricular origin. Thus, the first data on comparative ontogenesis confirm the difference between the anterior and the posterior GnRH systems.

DUAL ROLES OF GnRHs; HYPOPHYSIOTROPIC NEUROHORMONES AND BRAIN NEUROMEDIATORS

The coexistence of 2 GnRH systems raises the question of their respective physiological roles, particularly in regard to hypophysiotropic function.

As pituitary GnRH receptors in lower vertebrates generally have a low specificity towards different GnRH molecular forms (for review see: Millar et al. 1994), clues to the respective roles of GnRHs are provided by their differential projections towards the hypophysiotropic area, combined with data on their action on gonadotropic function.

Pituitary and brain projections of GnRH anterior and posterior systems

In teleosts, the adenohypophysis is directly innervated by hypophysiotropic neurons (for review see: Ball 1981, Peter et al. 1990), corresponding to the median eminence in tetrapods.

The anterior system, expressing various molecular forms (mGnRH, sGnRH, cfGnRH, sbGnRH, cGnRH-I), is always found to innervate the median eminence in tetrapods or its pituitary equivalent in teleosts. Thus, the anterior system plays a major role in the control of the pituitary. In addition to these pituitary projections, the anterior system also projects widely to various areas of the brain, indicating an important role of these molecular GnRH forms as brain neuromediators.

As to the posterior system and its potential hypophysiotropic role, differences are found among vertebrates: in birds and mammals, cGnRH-II neurons do not innervate the median eminence and are therefore not involved in the direct control of the pituitary (Mikami et al. 1988, Dellovade et al. 1993); while in teleosts, various situations are observed. In the goldfish, cGnRH-II may be as abundant as sGnRH in the pituitary (Yu et al. 1988); in the catfish, as in the eel, cGnRH-II is present in the pituitary but much less abundant than the other GnRH form (Dufour et al. 1993, Schulz et al. 1993); in contrast, no cGnRH-II fibers at all are detected in the pituitary of salmonids, where only sGnRH is present (in the masu salmon by Amano et al. 1991, in the rainbow trout by Anglade 1994). These observations suggest important variations among teleost species in the potential role of cGnRH-II as a hypophysiotropic neurohormone. Regarding its role as a brain neuromediator, cGnRH-II projections to different areas of the brain (particularly, the posterior area) have been observed in all cases.

Hypophysiotropic action on gonadotropin (GTH) secretion in teleosts

To address the role of the various GnRH forms on gonadotropic function, parallel studies of their pituitary levels and of their respective abilities to stimulate GTH secretion have been used.

In the goldfish, sGnRH and cGnRH-II are equally effective in stimulating in vitro GTH release (Chang et al. 1990) and they have similar pituitary levels (Yu et al. 1988). This indicates that these two forms possess the same potential role in regulating gonadotropic function. In contrast, in salmonids, while sGnRH and cGnRH-II are also both active on in vitro GTH release (Blaise et al. 1995), the absence of cGnRH-II in the pituitary suggests that this form is not directly involved in the control of gonadotropic function (Amano et al. 1991, Anglade 1994).

An intermediate situation is observed in the eel: mGnRH and cGnRH-II possess the same activity on in vitro GTH release (Montero 1995), but mGnRH is more abundant than cGnRH-II in the pituitary (Dufour et al. 1993). We may therefore assign to mGnRH a major role in the control of the gonadotropic function in this species. However, as both neuropeptides are present in the pituitary, a potential role of cGnRH-II can not be excluded.

In the catfish, a different situation is observed since cGnRH-II is much more active (> 100 times) than cfGnRH in stimulating in vitro GTH release. Binding studies showed that this difference in biological potency results from different affinities for the pituitary receptor (Schulz et al. 1993). It is interesting to note that such a high specificity of the pituitary GnRH receptor was not found in other non-mammalian vertebrates. As catfish GnRH receptor is able to bind with equal affinity not only cGnRH-II, but also molecular forms such as sGnRH and mGnRH (Schulz et al. 1993), we propose that the apparent selective specificity of catfish receptor towards cGnRH-II could be due to a low recognition of the novel form cfGnRH rather than to a special high specificity. Considering their hypophysiotropic roles, although cfGnRH is more abundant than cGnRH-II in the pituitary, the 2 GnRH forms are still potentially able to play a role in the direct control of gonadotropic function (Schulz et al. 1993).

Studies of pituitary levels and relative abilities to stimulate GTH release by different GnRH forms coexisting in the same species indicate variations in their respective roles in the control of gonadotropic function among teleosts. However, in most teleosts, the results of these studies may be insufficient, and clues to the respective roles of GnRH forms may also be provided by comparing how they are regulated (see below).

Hypophysiotropic action on growth hormone (GH) secretion in teleosts

In teleosts, in addition to the control of pituitary gonadotrophs. GnRHs may also act on somatotrophs. In the goldfish, the 2 GnRH forms (sGnRH and cGnRH-II) are not only able to stimulate GH release in vivo (after GnRH administration), but also in vitro (on primary cultures of pituitary cells) (Marchant et al. 1989, Chang et al. 1990 1993, Wong et al. 1993). In this fish species, GnRH was shown, with the aid of electron microscopy, to bind not only to gonadotrophs but also to somatotrophs (Cook et al. 1991), suggesting the presence of GnRH receptors on somatotrophs. The stimulation of GH release by GnRH was also observed in another cyprinid fish, Cyprinus carpio (Lin et al. 1993) as well as in a cichlid fish, Oreochromis sp. (Melamed et al. 1995). In contrast, GnRHs were not able to stimulate GH release in a salmonid fish, Oncorhynchus mykiss (Blaise et al. 1995), except under the potentiating effect of IGF (insulin-like growth factor) (Blaise 1995). These data show that the importance of the role of GnRH in the control of GH release may vary among teleosts.

A direct effect of GnRH on GH secretion has not been seen in other vertebrate classes, including mammals, and this role may be limited to some teleost species. However, the occurrence of such a phenomenon may be found in some pathological situations in human (Faglia et al. 1973, Dickerman et al. 1981).

DIFFERENTIAL REGULATION OF GnRHs

Until now, very few experimental studies on the differential regulation of various GnRH forms have been available, and they have been concerned with the regulation by sex steroids of cGnRH-I and cGnRH-II in bird species (Sharp et al. 1990, Wilson et al. 1990) and of mGnRH and cGnRH-II in a teleost (the eel, *Anguilla anguilla* L. by Dufour et al. 1993, Montero et al. 1995), using highly specific radioimmunoassays (RIA).

Effects of experimental sexual maturation

In the eel, experimental sexual maturation can be induced by gonadotropic treatment (for instance, injection of carp pituitary extract, in the female), which stimulates both gametogenesis and steroidogenesis. Under the effect of endogenous steroids, both pituitary gonadotropin levels and brain and pituitary mGnRH levels increase (Dufour et al. 1989 1993). In contrast, cGnRH-II levels decrease (Dufour et al. 1993). This indicates a differential regulation of mGnRH and cGnRH-II during sexual maturation in the eel. A differential regulation of the 2 GnRH forms was also observed in the goldfish and the salmon, with an increase in sGnRH but not cGnRH-II in the anterior brain and in the pituitary during natural sexual maturation (Amano et al. 1992, Rosenblum et al. 1994).

These results suggest a principal role for the anterior brain GnRH form (mGnRH in the eel, sGnRH in cyprinids or salmonids) in the hypophysiotropic control of gonadotropin function.

Effects of steroid treatments

In the eel, treatments with various steroids indicate a positive and estrogen-dependent control of mGnRH (as well as of pituitary GTH), and a negative and androgen-dependent control of cGnRH-II (Montero et al. 1995). These results, which agree with data on experimental sexual maturation, suggest the existence of a mGnRH-GTH axis under positive feedback of steroids (estrogen-dependent) during sexual maturation (Montero et al. 1995).

Such a positive feedback of sex steroids has also been demonstrated in juvenile salmonids, suggesting the existence of a sGnRH-GTH axis: a positive effect on GTH synthesis has been found by RIA in the rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Crim and Evans 1979, Goos et al. 1986), in the Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* (Crim and Peter 1978), and by northern blot analysis in the salmon *Oncorhynchus tschawytscha* (Xiong et al. 1994). A positive effect on GnRH synthesis has been found by biological assay in *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Goos et al. 1986) and by in situ hybridization (sGnRH specific) in *Oncorhynchus masou* (Amano et al. 1994).

This important positive feedback of sex steroids on the mGnRH-GTH axis in the eel or the sGnRH-GTH axis in juvenile salmonids could play a major role as an amplifier in the pubertal stimulation of gonadotropic function in these species.

Data on regulation of cGnRH-II by sex steroids have only been obtained in the eel. The negative control of cGnRH-II by sex steroids allows us to exclude the involvement of this form in the stimulation of gonadotropic function during sexual maturation (Montero et al. 1995).

CONCLUSIONS

In teleosts, as in most gnathostomes, 2 distinct GnRH neuronal systems are present, exhibiting differences in the molecular forms expressed, in the localization of their cell bodies and projections, and in their regulation. The anterior system corresponds to cell bodies located in the olfactory bulbs, telencephalon and diencephalon, and expresses various GnRHs among teleosts (mGnRH. sGnRH, cfGnRH, sbGnRH), but this system always plays a major role in the direct control of pituitary gonadotropic function. The posterior system corresponds to cell bodies located in the mesencephalon. This system always expresses the same molecular form, cGnRH-II, but it exhibits large differences in its potential role in the control of gonadotropic function, even among teleosts. Complementary approaches including characterization of the different molecular forms expressed, studies of their localizations, biological activities, and regulations are required to understand their respective physiological roles in a given species.

Acknowledgements: M. Montero was a recipient of a fellowship from IFREMER. We thank Dr B. Demeneix and Y. S. Huang for their critical reading of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

Adelman JP, AJ Mason, JS Hayflick, PH Seeburg. 1986. Isolation of the gene and hypothalamic cDNA for the common precursor of gonadotropin-releasing hormone and prolactin release-inhibiting factor in human and rat. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **83:** 179-183.

- Amano M, K Aida, N Okumoto, Y Hasegawa. 1992. Changes in salmon GnRH and chicken GnRH-II contents in the brain and pituitary, and GTH contents in the pituitary in female Masu salmon, *Oncorhynchus masou*, from hatching through ovulation. Zool. Sci. **9:** 375-386.
- Amano M, S Hyodo, A Urano, N Okumoto, S Kitamura, K Ikuta, Y Suzuki, K Aida. 1994. Activation of salmon gonadotropinreleasing hormone synthesis by 17-a-methyltestosterone administration in yearling Masu salmon, *Oncorhynchus masou*. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. **95**: 374-380.
- Amano M, Y Oka, K Aida, N Okumoto, S Kawashima, Y Hasegawa. 1991. Immunocytochemical demonstration of salmon GnRH and chicken GnRH-II in the brain of the Masu salmon. J. Comp. Neurol. **314**: 587-597.
- Amoss M, R Burgus, R Blackwell, W Vale, R Fellows, R Guillemin. 1971. Purification, amino acid composition and Nterminus of the hypothalamic luteinizing releasing factor (LRF) of ovine origin. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm. 44: 205-210.
- Andersen O, H Klungland. 1993. The salmon GnRH encoding gene in teleost fish. Int. Rev. Cyt. **147:** 165-191.
- Anglade I. 1994. Etude morphofonctionnelle des systèmes neuroendocriniens impliqués dans le contrôle de la fonction gonadotrope chez les poissons osseux. Ph.D. dissertation, Université de Bordeaux I, France.
- Bailhache T, A Arazam, H Klungland, P Alestrom, B Breton, P Jego. 1994. Localization of salmon gonadotropinreleasing hormone mRNA and peptide in the brain of Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout. J. Comp. Neurol. 347: 444-454.
- Ball JN. 1981. Hypothalamic control of the pars distalis in fishes, amphibians and reptiles. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 44: 135-170.
- Blaise O. 1995. Contribution à l'étude des interactions croissance-reproduction au niveau de l'axe hypothalamohypophysaire chez la truite arc-en-ciel (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Ph.D dissertation, Université Paris VI, France.
- Blaise O, PY Le Bail, C Weil. 1995. Lack of gonadotropin releasing hormone action on *in vivo* and *in vitro* growth hormone release, in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part C. **110C:** 133-141.
- Bogerd J, MA Zandbergen, E Andersson, H Goos. 1994. Isolation, characterization and expression of cDNAs encoding the catfish-type and chicken-II-type gonadotropin-releasing hormone-precursors in the African catfish. Eur. J. Biochem. 222: 541-549.
- Bond CT, RC Francis, RD Fernald, JP Adelman. 1991. Characterization of complementray DNA encoding the precursor for gonadotropin-releasing hormone and its associated peptide from a teleost fish. Mol. Endocrinol. **5:** 931-937.
- Chang JP, H Cook, GL Freedman, AJ Wiggs, GM Somoza, R De Leeuw, RE Peter. 1990a. Use of a pituitary cell dispersion method and primary culture system for the studies of gonadotropin-releasing hormone action in the goldfish, *Carassius auratus*. I. Initial, morphological, static and cell column perifusion studies. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. **77**: 256-273.
- Chang JP, GL Freedman, R de Leeuw, RE Peter. 1990b. Use of a pituitary cell dispersion method and primary culture system for the studies of gonadotropin-releasing hormone action in the goldfish, *Carassius auratus*. II. Extracellular calcium dependence and dopaminergic inhibition of gon-

adotropin responses. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 77: 274-282.

- Chang JP, RM Jobin, AOL Wong. 1993. Intracellular mechanisms mediating gonadotropin and growth hormone release in the goldfish, *Carassius auratus*. Fish Physiol. Biochem. **11**: 25-33.
- Chiba A, S Oka, Y Honna. 1994. Ontogenetic development of gonadotropin-releasing hormone-like immunoreactive neurons in the brain of the chum salmon, *Oncorhynchus keta*. Neurosci. Lett. **178**: 51-54.
- Conlon JM, F Collin, YC Chiang, SA Sower, H Vaudry. 1993. Two molecular forms of gonadotropin-releasing hormone from the brain of the frog, *Rana ridibunda*: purification, characterization, and distribution. Endocrinology **132**: 2117-2123.
- Cook H, JW Berkenbosch, MJ Fernhout, KL Yu, RE Peter, JP Chang, JE Rivier. 1991. Demonstration of gonadotropinreleasing hormone receptors on gonadotrophs and somatotrophs of the goldfish: an electron microscope study. Regulatory Peptides **36**: 369-378.
- Crim LW, DM Evans. 1979. Stimulation of pituitary gonadotropin by testosterone in juvenile rainbow trout, *Salmo gairdneri*. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. **37**: 192-196.
- Crim LW, RE Peter. 1978. The influence of testosterone implantation in the brain and pituitary on pituitary gonadotropin levels in Atlantic salmon parr. Ann. Biol. Anim. Biochem. Biophys. **18:** 689-694.
- D'Aniello B, M Masucci, M di Meglio, G Ciarcia, RK Rastogi. 1991. Distribution of gonadotropin-releasing hormone-like peptides in the brain during development of juvenile male *Rana esculenta*. Cell Tissue Res. **265:** 51-55.
- D'Antonio M, M Vallarino, DA Lovejoy, F Vandesande, JA King, R Pierantoni, RE Peter. 1995. Nature and distribution of gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) in the brain, and GnRH and GnRH binding activity in serum of the spotted dogfish *Scyliorhinus canicula*. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. **98**: 35-49.
- Dellovade TL, JA King, RP Millar, EF Rissman. 1993. Presence and differential distribution of distinct forms of immunoreactive gonadotropin-releasing hormone in the musk shrew brain. Neuroendocrinology **58:** 166-177.
- Dickerman Z, LA Rachme, I Gil-Ad, R Prager-Lewin, A Galatzer, Z Laron. 1981. Rise in plasma growth hormone in response to exogenous LRH in Klinefelter's syndrome. Clin. Endocrinol. **15:** 403-410.
- Dufour S, N Le Belle, S Baloche, YA Fontaine. 1989. Positive feedback control by the gonads on gonadotropin (GTH) and gonadoliberin (GnRH) levels in experimentally matured female silver eels, *Anguilla anguilla*. Fish Physiol. Biochem. **7**: 157-162.
- Dufour S, M Montero, N Le Belle, M Bassompierre, JA King, RP Millar, RE Peter, YA Fontaine. 1993. Differential distribution and response to experimental sexual maturation of two forms of brain gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) in the European eel, *Anguilla anguilla*. Fish Physiol. Biochem. **11**: 99-106.
- Dunn IC, Y Chen, C Hook, PJ Sharp, HM Sang. 1993. Characterization of the chicken preprogonadotropin-releasing hormone-I gene. J. Mol. Endocrinol. **11:** 19-29.
- Faglia G, P Beck-Pecoz, P Travaglini, A Paracchi, A Spada, A Lewin. 1973. Elevation in plasma growth hormone concentration after luteinizing hormone releasing hormone (LHRH) in patients with active acromegaly. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 37: 338-340.

Goos HJT, R De Leeuw, H Cook, PGWJ Van Oordt. 1986.

Gonadotropic hormone-releasing hormone (GnRH) bioactivity in the brain of immature rainbow trout, *Salmo gairdneri*: the effect of testosterone. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. **64:** 80-84.

- Hayes WP, S Wray, JF Battey. 1994. The frog gonadotropinreleasing hormone-I (GnRH-I) gene has a mammalian-like expression pattern and conserved domains in GnRHassociated peptide, but brain onset is delayed until metamorphosis. Endocrinology **134**: 1835-1845.
- Joss JMP, JA King, RP Millar. 1994. Identification of the molecular forms of and steroid hormone response to gonadotropin-releasing hormone in the Australian lungfish, *Neoceratodus forsteri*. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 96: 392-400.
- Kah O, I Anglade, E Lepêtre, P Dubourg, D de Monbrison. 1993. The reproductive brain in fish. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 11: 85-98.
- Karten MJ, JE Rivier. 1986. Gonadotropin-releasing hormone analog design. Structure-function studies toward the development of agonists and antagonists: rationale and perspective. Endocr. Rev. 7: 44-66.
- King JA, S Dufour, YA Fontaine, RP Millar. 1990a. Chromatographic and immunological evidence for mammalian GnRH and chicken II GnRH in eel (*Anguilla anguilla*) brain and pituitary. Peptides 11: 507-514.
- King JA, LA Hinds, AEI Mehl, NR Saunders, RP Millar. 1990b. Chicken GnRH II occurs together with mammalian GnRH in a South American species of marsupial (*Monodelphis domestica*). Peptides 11: 521-525.
- King JA, AEI Mehl, CH Tyndale-Biscoe, LA Hinds, RP Millar. 1989. A second form of gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH), with chicken GnRH II-like properties, occurs together with mammalian GnRH in marsupial brains. Endocrinology **125**: 2244-2252.
- King JA, RP Millar. 1979. Heterogeneity of vertebrate luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone. Science 206: 67-69.
- King JA, RP Millar. 1982a. Structure of chicken hypothalamic luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone. I. Structural determination on partially purified material. J. Biol. Chem. 257: 10722-10728.
- King JA, RP Millar. 1982b. Structure of chicken hypothalamic luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone. II. Isolation and characterization. J. Biol. Chem. **257**: 10729-10732.
- King JA, RP Millar. 1992. Evolution of gonadotropin-releasing hormones. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. **3:** 339-346.
- King JA, AA Steneveld, RP Millar. 1994. Differential regional distribution of gonadotropin-releasing hormones in amphibian (clawted toad, *Xenopus laevis*) brain. Reg. Pept. **50:** 277-289.
- Klungland H, JB Lorens, O Andersen, GO Kisen, P Alestrom. 1992. The Atlantic salmon pre-pro-gonadotropin releasing hormone gene and mRNA. Mol. Cel. Endocrinol. 84: 167-174.
- Le Belle N, S Dufour, G Marquet, B Kerdelhué, YA Fontaine. 1988. Etat sexuel et axe gonadotrope hypothalamohypophysaire chez les trois espèces d'anguilles de Tahiti (Anguilla marmorata, A. megastoma et A. obscura). Bull. Mus. Nat., Paris 10: 147-160.
- Leprêtre E, I Anglade, P Williot, F Vandesande, G Tramu, O Kah. 1993. Comparative distribution of mammalian GnRH (Gonadotrophin-releasing hormone) and chicken GnRH-II in the brain of the immature Siberian sturgeon (*Acipenser baeri*). J. Comp. Neurol. **337:** 568-583.
- Lin WW, HR Lin, RE Peter. 1993. Growth hormone and gonadotropin secretion in the common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*

L.): *in vitro* interactions of gonadotropin-releasing hormone, somatostatin, and the dopamine agonist apomorphine. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. **89:** 62-71.

- Lovejoy DA, WH Fischer, S Ngamvongchon, AG Craig, CS Nahorniak, RE Peter, JE Rivier, NM Sherwood. 1992b. Distinct sequence of gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) in dogfish brain provides insight into GnRH evolution. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **89:** 6373-6377.
- Lovejoy DA, NM Sherwood, WH Fischer, BC Jackson, JE Rivier, T Lee. 1991. Primary structure of gonadotropinreleasing hormone from the brain of a holocephalan (ratfish: *Hydrolagus colliei*). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. **82:** 152-161.
- Lovejoy DA, WK Stell, NM Sherwood. 1992a. Partial characterization of four forms of immunoreactive gonadotropinreleasing hormone in the brain and terminal nerve of the spiny dogfish (Elasmobranchii; *Squalus acanthias*). Reg. Pept. **37**: 39-48.
- Marchant TA, JP Chang, CS Nahorniak, RE Peter. 1989. Evidence that gonadotropin-releasing hormone also functions as a growth hormone-releasing factor in the goldfish. Endocrinology **124**: 2509-2518.
- Mason AJ, JS Hayflick, RT Zoeller, WS Young, HS Phillips, K Nikolics, PH Seeburg. 1986. A deletion truncating the gonadotropin-releasing hormone gene is responsible for hypogonadism in the hpg mouse. Science **234**: 1366-1371.
- Masucci M, B DUAniello, L lela, G Garcia, RK Rastogi. 1992. Immunohistochemical demonstration of the presence and localization of diverse forms of gonadotrophin-releasing hormone in the lizard (*Podarcis s. sicula*) brain. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. **86:** 81-89.
- Matsuo H, Y Baba, RMG Nair, A Arimura, AV Schally. 1971.
 Structure of the porcine LH- and FSH-releasing hormone.
 I. The proposed amino acid sequence. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm. 43: 1334-1339.
- Melamed P, N Eliahu, B Levavi-Sivan, M Ofir, O Farchi-Pisanty, F Rentier-Delrue, J Smal, Z Yaron, Z Naor. 1995. Hypothalamic and thyroidal regulation of growth hormone in tilapia. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 97: 13-30.
- Mikami SI, S Yamada, Y Hasegawa, K Miyamoto. 1988. Localization of avian LHRH-immunoreactive neurons in the hypothalamus of the domestic fowl, *Gallus domesticus*, and the Japanese quail, *Coturnix coturnix*. Cell Tissue Res. **251:** 51-58.
- Millam JR, CB Craig-Veit, TE Adams, BM Adams. 1989. Avian gonadotropin-releasing hormones I and II brain and other tissues in turkey hens. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part A. 94A: 771-776.
- Millar RP, JS Davidson, C Flanagan, N Illing, I Becker, G Jacobs, I Wakefield. 1994. Gonadotropin-releasing hormone receptor structure and function. *In* KG Davey, RE Peter, SS Tobe, Eds. Perspectives in comparative endocrinology. Natl. Res. Council Canada, Publ., pp. 264-268.
- Millar RP, JA King. 1994. Plasticity and conservation in gonadotropin-releasing hormone structure and function. *In* KG Davey, RE Peter, SS Tobe, Eds. Perspectives in comparative endocrinology. Natl. Res. Council Canada, Publ., pp. 129-136.
- Miyamoto K, Y Hasegawa, M Nomura, M Igarashi, K Kangawa, H Matsuo. 1984. Identification of the second gonadotropinreleasing hormone in chicken hypothalamus: evidence that gonadotropin secretion is probably controlled by two distinct gonadotropin-releasing hormones in avian species. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **81**: 3874-3878.

- Montero M. 1995. Coexistence de différentes formes de gonadolibérines chez les vertébrés: Etude comparative de la localisation, de l'action et de la régulation des deux gonadolibérines (mGnRH et cGnRH-II) présentes chez l'anguille (*Anguilla anguilla* L.). Ph.D. dissertation, Université Paris VI, France.
- Montero M, N Le Belle, JA King, RP Millar, S Dufour. 1995. Differential regulation of the two forms of gonadotropinreleasing hormone (mGnRH and cGnRH-II) by sexual steroids in the European silver eel (Anguilla anguilla). Neuroendocrinology **61:** 525-535.
- Montero M, B Vidal, JA King, G Tramu, F Vandesande, S Dufour, O Kah. 1994. Immunocytochemical localization of mammalian GnRH (gonadotropin-releasing hormone) and chicken GnRH-II in the brain of the European silver eel (*Anguilla anguilla* L.). J. Chem. Neuroanat. **7:** 227-241.
- Murakami S, T Seki, K Wakabayashi, Y Arai. 1991. The ontogeny of luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone (LHRH) producing neurons in the chick embryo: possible evidence for migrating LHRH neuron from the olfactory epithelium expressing a highly polysialylated neural cell adhesion molecule. Neurosci. Res. **12**: 421-431.
- Muske LE. 1993. Evolution of gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) neuronal systems. Brain Behav. Evol. 42: 215-230.
- Muske LE, FL. Moore. 1994. Antibodies against different forms of GnRH distinguish different populations of cells and axonal pathways in a urodele amphibian, *Taricha granulosa*. J. Comp. Neurol. **345:** 139-147.
- Ngamvongchon S, DA Lovejoy, WH Fischer, AG Craig, CS Nahorniak, RE Peter, JE Rivier, NM Sherwood. 1992. Primary structures of two forms of gonadotropin-releasing hormone, one distinct and one conserved, from catfish brain. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. **3:** 17-22.
- Northcutt RG, LE Muske. 1994. Multiple embryonic origins of gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) immunoreactive neurons. Dev. Brain Res. **78:** 279-290.
- Okuzawa K, M Amano, M Kobayashi, K Aida, Y Hasegawa, K Miyamoto. 1990. Differences in salmon GnRH and chicken GnRH-II contents in discrete brain areas of male and female rainbow trout according to age and stage of maturity. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. **80:** 116-126.
- Peter RE, KL Yu, TA Marchant, PM Rosenblum. 1990. Direct neural regulation of the teleost adenohypophysis. J. Exp. Zool. Suppl. **4:** 84-89.
- Powell JFF, Y Zohar, A Elizur, M Park, WH Fischer, AG Craig, JE Rivier, DA Lovejoy, NM Sherwood. 1994. Three forms of gonadotropin-releasing hormone characterized from brains of one species. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91: 12081-12085.
- Rosenblum PM, HJT Goos, RE Peter. 1994. Regional distribution and in vitro secretion of salmon and chicken-II gonadotropin-releasing hormones from the brain and pituitary of juvenile and adult goldfish, *Carassius auratus*. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. **93**: 369-379.
- Schulz RW, PT Bosma, MA Zandbergen, MCA Van Der Sanden, W Van Dijk, J Peute, J Bogerd, HJT Goos. 1993. Two gonadotropin-releasing hormones in the African catfish, *Clarias gariepinus*: localization, pituitary receptor binding, and gonadotropin release activity. Endocrinology **133**: 1569-1577.
- Schwanzel-Fukuda M, DW Pfaff. 1991. Migration of LHRHimmunoreactive neurons from the olfactory placode rationalizes olfacto-hormonal relationships. J. Steroid Biochem.

Molec. Biol. 39: 565-572.

- Schwanzel-Fukuda M, AJ Silverman. 1980. The nervus terminalis of the guinea pig: a new luteinizing hormonereleasing hormone (LHRH) neuronal system. J. Comp. Neurol. 191: 213-225.
- Seeburg PH, JP Adelman. 1984. Characterization of cDNA for precursor of human luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone. Nature **311**: 666-668.
- Seeburg PH, AJ Mason, TA Stewart, K Nikolics. 1987. The mammalian GnRH gene and its pivotal role in reproduction. Recent Prog. Horm. Res. 43: 69-91.
- Sharp PJ, RT Talbot, GM Main, IC Dunn, HM Fraser, NS Huskisson. 1990. Physiological role of chicken LHRH-I and -II in the control of gonadotrophin release in the domestic chicken. J. Endocrinol. **124**: 291-299.
- Sherwood NM, S Doroshov, V Lance. 1991. Gonadotropinreleasing hormone (GnRH) in bony fish that are phylogenetically ancient: reedfish (*Calamoichthys calabricus*), sturgeon (*Acipenser transmontanus*), and alligator gar (*Lepisosteus spatula*). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 84: 44-57.
- Sherwood NM, L Eiden, M Brownstein, J Spiess, J Rivier, W Vale. 1983. Characterization of a teleost gonadotropin-releasing hormone. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 80: 2794-2798.
- Sherwood NM, DA Lovejoy. 1989. The origin of the mammalian form of GnRH in primitive fishes. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 7: 85-93.
- Sherwood NM, DA Lovejoy, IR Coe. 1993. Origin of mammalian gonadotropin-releasing hormones. Endocr. Rev. 14: 241-254.
- Sherwood NM, SA Sower, DR Marshak, BA Fraser, MJ Brownstein. 1986. Primary structure of gonadotropin-releasing hormone from lamprey brain. J. Biol. Chem. 261: 4812-4819.
- Sower SA, YC Chiang, S Lovas, JM Conlon. 1993. Primary structure and biological activity of a third gonadotropin-

releasing hormone from lamprey brain. Endocrinology **132:** 1125-1131.

- Sower SA, M Nozaki, CJ Knox, A Gorbman. 1995. The occurrence and distribution of GnRH in the brain of Atlantic hagfish, an agnatha, determined by chromatography and immunocytochemistry. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. **97:** 300-307.
- Suzuki M, S Hyodo, M Kobayashi, K Aida, A Urano. 1992. Characterization and localization of mRNA encoding the salmon type gonadotropin-releasing hormone precursor of the masu salmon. J. Mol. Endocrinol. **9:** 73-82.
- Tsai PS, P Licht. 1993. Differential distribution of chicken-I and chicken-II GnRH in the turtle brain. Peptides 14: 221-226.
- White SA, CT Bond, RC Francis, TL Kasten, RD Fernald, JP Adelman. 1994. A second gene for gonadotropin-releasing hormone: cDNA and expression pattern in the brain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **91**: 1423-1427.
- Wilson SC, RT Gladwell, FJ Cunningham. 1990. Differential responses of hypothalamic LHRH-I and -II to castration and gonadal steroid or tamoxifen treatment in cockerels. J. Endocrinol. **125**: 139-146.
- Wong AOL, JP Chang, RE Peter. 1993. Interactions of somatostatin, gonadotropin-releasing hormone, and the gonads on dopamine-stimulated growth hormone release in the goldfish. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 92; 366-378.
- Xiong F, D Liu, Y Le Drean, HP Elsholtz, CL Hew. 1994. Differential recruitment of steroid hormone response elements may dictate the expression of the pituitary gonadotropin-II b-subunit gene during salmon maturation. Mol. Endocrinol. 8: 782-793.
- Yu KL, NM Sherwood, RE Peter. 1988. Differential distribution of two molecular forms of gonadotropin-releasing hormone in discrete brain areas of goldfish (*Carassius auratus*). Peptides 9: 625-630.

魚類性釋素:結構,分佈,調節及功能之進化

Maite Montero¹ and Sylvie Dufour¹

自哺乳類性釋素 (mGnRH) 被發現以來,其他非哺乳類之性釋素,也紛紛在其他低等脊椎動物中被發現與確認。而魚類性釋素種類與型態變異最大,有領上綱(軟骨魚綱及硬骨魚綱)都有雞二型性釋素 (cGnRH-II);另外還共存其他型類之性釋素:在軟骨魚是和沙魚型性釋素(dfGnRH);原始硬骨魚,(例如:鰻魚),則是與哺乳類型性釋素 (mGnRH);但大部分的硬骨魚卻是和鮭型性釋素 (sGnRH);鯰魚則爲鯰型性釋素(cfGnRH);另外,在鱸形目,除雞二型性釋素,鮭型性釋素之外,尙有第三型,即鯛型性釋素(sbGnRH)。使用細胞免疫化學或原位雜交技術,已闡明性釋素在腦部之分佈位置。在硬骨魚及其他脊椎動物:雞二型性釋素,分佈於中腦蓋(Tegmentum),而其他類型性釋素則分佈於前腦(嗅球,終腦及間腦)。此兩大類型性釋素分佈系統共存於腦部,似乎應有其不同生理功能,尤其對腦垂腺之調節。在硬骨魚類之腦垂體中,有控制神經分佈;前腦系統之性釋素(mGnRH,sGnRH,cfGnRH或sbGnRH);是腦垂體中之主要性釋素。另外,視硬骨魚種別而定:腦垂體沒有或含有少數雞二型性釋素神經纖維,因此提示該型性釋素,在不同種類,具有不同的重要性,除調控腦垂體激素分泌角色之外,在硬骨魚類及脊椎動物,GnRHs也擔任神經傳遞之功能。不同類型性釋素之角色,可由其表現之調控而定。從鰻魚的研究中,發現調控兩型性釋素的生成剛好相反;以類固醇激素處理或經由誘導成熟,發現哺乳類型性釋素(以及腦垂體性腺促素)生成較多,而雞二型性釋素生成量則較少。由這些試驗結果提示調控腦垂體性腺促素,主要由腦前端性釋素系統所控制。

關鍵詞:進化,神經胜肽,硬骨魚。

¹ Laboratoire de Physiologie Générale et Comparée Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, Paris, France